IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM TERRY DAVIS

APPELLANT

VS.

÷

SUPREME COURT NO. 2006-KA-02124-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF ADAMS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

GUS GRABLE SERMOS

Attorney at Law 806 Meadville Street P.O. Box 1269 Summit, MS 39666 601-276-4333 Fax No. 276-4313 MSBN

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. The representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

. •

•

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS DENIAL OF WILLIAM TERRY DAVIS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.
- IIWHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS DENIAL OF WILLIAM TERRYDAVIS' MOTION FOR A JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT.

,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

. •

William Terry Davis (Davis) was indicted by the Adams County, Mississippi, Grand Jury during its December 2005 Term for the offense of Murder, in violation of Section 97-3-19 of the Mississippi Code of 1972 as amended. The offense was allegedly committed on, during or about May 16, 1994.

After pre-trial motions were heard and ruled on by the Trial Court, Davis went before an Adams County Jury for a trial on the merits on March 21-23, 2006, with the Honorable Forrest A. Johnson, Circuit Court Judge, presiding. The jury found Davis "guilty" of the murder of Rena Davis as charged in the indictment.

Judge Johnson sentenced Davis to serve a term of life in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, as provided by law.

On July 26, 2006, Judge Johnson appointed the undersigned attorney to represent Davis on post-trial proceedings, including Davis' appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court.

Thus, from the Trial Judge's denial of Davis' request for a new trial, or in the alternative, for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict, and from his conviction and sentence, Davis now appeals.

The significant issues Davis raises in his appeal is that the verdict of the jury is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow the verdict to stand sanctions an unconscionable injustice; and that the evidence presented to the jury in this case is legally insufficient to sustain Davis' conviction for the murder of Rena Davis.

Therefore, the Trial Court erred in its denial of Davis' request for a new trial, and/or for its denial of a judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The appellant, Davis, contends that with respect to the offense, Murder (97-3-19), for which the jury found him "guilty," the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice; and that the evidence so considered is such that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only have found him "not guilty" for the death of Rena Davis.

The events directly leading up to the charge of murder being filed against Davis happened in the summer of 2005 when Ricky Lee, a self-described old friend of Davis', gave testimonial and physical evidence to law officers regarding a statement Davis made to him and a wooden stake Davis gave him after the murder of Rena Davis.

Davis proceeded to trial on March 21-23, 2006. The State failed to present any physical evidence which tied Davis to the murder; and no witness placed Davis at the scene of the murder of his ex-wife. However, the jury convicted Davis of murdering his ex-wife, Rena Davis. Judge Johnson then sentenced Davis to a life-term in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Davis asserts that the verdict of the jury went against the overwhelming weight of the evidence; and that the evidence presented at trial was not legally sufficient to sustain the guilty verdict as to the charge of murder.

Therefore, the Trial Court erred in its decision to deny Davis' motion for a new trial, and in its failure to grant Davis' requested judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV) in that the evidence presented to the jury was such that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only have found Davis not guilty of murder.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS DENIAL OF WILLIAM TERRY DAVIS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

II WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS DENIAL OF WILLIAM TERRY DAVIS' MOTION FOR A JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT.

(NOTE: For clarity and cohesiveness these two arguments will be addressed jointly.)

On March 21-23, 2006, an Adams County jury convicted the defendant/appellant, Davis,

of the Murder.

۰.

The offense of murder as applied to this case is described in Section 97-3-19(1)(a) of the Mississippi Code of 1972 as follows:

Section 97-3-91(1)	The killing of a human being without the authority of law
	by any means or in any manner shall be murder in the
	following cases:

 (a) When done with deliberate design to effect the death of the person killed, or of any human being.

In support of Davis' assertion that the Trial Court erred in its refusal to grant his motion for a new trial, Davis would show that the appellate court must accept as true all evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when it is convinced that the Circuit Court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial. <u>Swann v. State</u>, 806 So.2d 1111, 1117 (Miss. 2002). Further, a motion for a new trial asks that the judgment be vacated on the grounds related to the weight of the evidence. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 802 So.2d 82, 85-86 (Miss. 2001). Moreover, it is "only in cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice" that the Appellate Court will disturb the verdict on appeal. <u>Dudley v. State</u>, 719 So.2d 180, 182 (Miss. 1998).

Next, in support of Davis' assertion that the Trial Court erred in denying his motion for JNOV, Davis would show that when reviewing a Trial Court's denial of a motion for directed verdict, request for peremptory instruction, on Motion for JNOV, the legal sufficiency of the evidence is challenged. <u>McClain v. State</u>, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993); <u>Wetz v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 803, 807-808 (Miss. 1987). Moreover, in appeals from a Trial Court's refusal to grant a peremptory instruction or an overruled motion for JNOV, the sufficiency of the evidence as a matter of law is viewed and tested in the light most favorable to the verdict. <u>McClain at 778; Esparaza v. State</u>, 595 So.2d 418, 426 (Miss. 1992); <u>Wetz</u> at 808. Further, this Court will accept any credible evidence that supports guilt as true, granting the prosecution "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." <u>Wetz</u> at 808. And, this Court will only reverse "where a reasonable, fair-minded juror could not have found one of the required elements of the crime." <u>Gleeton v. State</u>, 716 So.2d 1083, 1087 (Miss. 1998).

Davis now presents a synopsis of the testimony and evidence which the jury heard and received at Davis' trial on March 21-23, 2006.

The State called its first witness, Tom McGehee (T.103) McGehee testified that at the time of the murder in 1994 he was an evidence technician with the Natchez Police Department. (T. 104) Next, McGehee described the crime scene via photographs, video, and his observations. (T. 105-127) McGehee did not testify to, or present any evidence to the jury that implicated Davis as the killer.

As its second witness the State called Michael Mullins, Chief of Natchez Police Department. (T. 130) Mullins said that at the time of the murder in May 1994 he was a Sergeant at the NPD and he testified as to his role in the investigation and his interview with Davis. (T. 130-152) Mullins said that Davis denied killing his ex-wife, Rena Davis, and that at the time of her murder Davis told Mullins he was at his parent's home in Woodville, MS. (T. 135)

. •

On cross-examination Mullins admitted that Davis signed a consent-to-search form for his residence and a medical release form allowing samples of hair, blood, and DNA to be taken from his body. (T. 153-155) Further, Mullins admitted that none of the body-sample evidence from Davis linked him with the crime scene. (T. 155)

For its third witness the State offered the transcription testimony of Wanda Lambert, marked for identification as State "B". (T. 157-158) Lambert died prior to trial and her testimony had been taken previously. Lambert offered no information to the jury about the murder of Rena Davis.

The State's fourth witness was Dr. John White. Dr. White described the injuries to Rena Davis he observed in February 1994. (T. 159-162) Dr. White offered no information concerning Rena Davis' death.

The State's fifth witness was Tammy Johnston. Johnston said she had previously been married to Davis' brother, John Lee Davis. (T. 162-164) Then, Johnston described what she had observed at Rena Davis' home after Rena and William Terry Davis had been in a fight about a year or so before Rena was murdered. (T. 164-167) Johnston offered the jury no information regarding Rena Davis' death.

Sam Wilkinson testified as the State's sixth witness. (T. 170) He said Rena Davis had

been his girlfriend. (T. 171-172) Wilkinson described how he found her body and said he called the Police. Then he stated that Rena Davis had taken a pregnancy test earlier and that the test result was "positive." Wilkinson also said that he and Rena and her kids planned to move to Colorado the next week. (T. 173-174) Wilkinson offered the jury no information about Rena Davis' murder.

. .

The State called Ricky Lee as its seventh witness. (T. 183) Lee said he and Davis had been friends for about twenty (20) years. (T. 184) Lee went on to testify that Davis came to Lee's job site on or about May 17, 1994, at night, and told Lee, "I messed up. I beat her real bad this time." Then Davis left, crying and hysterical, according to Lee. (T. 185) Next, Lee said that Davis came to his house a few weeks later and gave Lee a wooden stake and told Lee to get rid of it. (T. 188-189) Lee admitted not coming forward with the stake until July of 2005 even though he had it in his shed for eleven (11) years. (T. 192)

Deputy Ricky Stevens testified as the State's eighth witness. (T. 201) Stevens described how the wooden stake was obtained from Lee's residence, tested by the crime lab and Reliagene, and he said the tests were inconclusive, negative for the presence of blood. (T. 202-207)

The State called Hank Haney as the ninth witness. (T. 207) He offered nothing.

As its tenth witness the State called Charles Sullivan. (T. 210) Sullivan said he had known Davis since the early 1990's and that Sullivan's ex-wife and Rena Davis were friends. (T. 211-212) According to Sullivan, he and Davis saw each other in a Domino's Pizza in Natchez and Davis told Sullivan that Rena Davis was supposed to move to Colorado with her new boyfriend and she planned to take his kids, and then Davis said, "I will kill the bitch." (T. 212)

The State called George Ward as its eleventh witness. (T. 215) Ward related to the jury

his recollections, as the Natchez City Prosecutor of domestic abuse issues between Rena Davis and William Terry Davis in the early 1990's. (T. 216-222)

. •

Jody Waldrop testified as the State's twelfth witness. (T. 224) Waldrop said that Davis had never been eliminated as a suspect in the murder case and that Waldrop and another investigator at the Sheriff's Department began investigating "cold cases" in Adams County. Then Waldrop stated that the phone call which led to the discovery of the wooden tent stake came from Ricky Lee. (T. 225-226)

As its thirteenth witness the State called Bridget Davis to the stand. (T. 229) She identified herself as a seventeen-year-old daughter of Rena and William Terry Davis. (T. 229-230) Bridget said that when her mother, Rena, took her and Bridget's sister, Amanda, to a Texaco station so their father, Davis, could pick them up for a visit that the parents argued and hollered at each other in the parking lot. (T. 230-231) Further on Bridget said she remembered going to sleep on the couch with her father, Davis, at Davis' parent's house in Woodville, MS, and that Davis was not there with her when she woke up. Bridget did not know whether he left the residence or not that night. (T. 232)

For its fourteenth and final witness the State called Dr. Stephen Timothy Hayne. (T. 238) Dr. Hayne testified that Rena Davis' cause of death was due to multiple blunt force trauma. (T. 244)

The State rested its case after Dr. Hayne's testimony. (T. 251)

The defense moved for a directed verdict of acquittal (T. 252) which was denied by the Trial Court. (T. 262)

Next, the defense called its first witness, Nicole Davis Howell. (T. 266) Howell stated

she was Davis' niece and that she lived with Davis at his parent's house in Woodville, MS in 1994, at which time she was sixteen (16) years old. (T. 267) Howell further said she rode with Davis to pick up his two daughters from Rena at Arlene's One Stop. Howell testified that Davis was there at his parent's house that night and that Davis was still there when Howell went to sleep sometime between 2:00 and 2:30 a.m. and that Davis did not leave the house that night. (T. 268-271)

. •

The defense called Boyce Davis as its second witness. (T. 284) He said he was William Terry Davis' father and that he lived in Woodville, MS with his wife, Jeanette. (T. 285) Boyce said that William Terry Davis and his two daughters were at Boyce's house in Woodville on the night of May 16, 1994 - the night before Rena Davis' body was found on May 17th. (T. 286-287) Boyce Davis went on to state that William Terry Davis was asleep on the couch in the living room at 10:00 p.m. when he, Boyce, went to bed and that William Terry Davis was still there when he, Boyce, woke up at about 4:00 a.m. on the morning of May 17, 1994. (T. 288-289)

For its third and final witness the defense called Jeanette Davis to testify. (T. 299) Jeanette said she and her husband, Boyce, lived together in Woodville and that William Terry Davis was their son. (T. 300) Jeanette said that on May 16, 1994, she (Jeanette), William and Nicole were at home in Woodville, and that later in the day William's two daughters, Amanda and Bridget, came to spend the night there. (T. 301-302) Jeanette further stated that William Terry Davis was there at the house when she went to bed and that William was still there when she woke up at 3:00 a.m. on the morning of May 17th. (T. 304-305)

After introducing certain reports by stipulation, the defense rested its case. (T. 320) The burden is on the State pursuant to Section 97-3-19(1) to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Davis killed a human being, Rena Davis, with the deliberate design. The testimony presented at Davis' trial offered by various witnesses for the State produced no physical evidence that Davis caused the death of his ex-wife, Rena Davis.

. .

For example, Tom McGehee, the former evidence technician with the Natchez Police Department, offered no evidence to the jury which implicated Davis in Rena Davis' death. (T. 103-127) Furthermore, Michael Mullins, formerly a Sergeant at the Natchez Police Department testified that Davis denied any involvement in Rena Davis' death and that Davis told Mullins he was at his parent's home in Woodville, MS, at the time of Rena's death. (T. 130-155)

Then, Ricky Lee described his coming forward eleven (11) years later to tell the Law Officers that Davis told him he "messed up" and "beat her real bad this time." Ricky Lee also provided the Law Officers with a wooden stake he said Davis gave him to "get rid of." (T. 183-192)

When Charles Sullivan testified he related to the jury that Davis told him that Rena Davis was supposed to move to Colorado with her boyfriend and take her and Davis' kids, and that he (Davis) "will kill the bitch" because she's not taking my kids away from me. (T. 212)

Bridget Davis, one of Davis' daughters, stated that on the night of May 16th she went to sleep with Davis on the couch at the Woodville residence, and when she woke up Davis was not there on the couch with her, but Bridget could not say whether Davis left the residence that night or not. (T. 232)

For his defense, Davis called his niece, Nicole Davis Howell; his father, Boyce Davis; and his mother, Jeannette Davis. All three of them testified that William Terry Davis stayed at the Woodville residence. (T. 268-305) Simply stated, Davis' conviction is based on the uncorroborated testimony of Ricky Lee and Charles Sullivan, each of whom testified as to inculpatory statements allegedly made to them by Davis. Moreover, the State failed to produce even one piece of physical evidence that placed Davis at the crime scene or connected Davis to the death of Rena Davis.

. .

Furthermore, four witnesses; Bridget Davis, Nicole Davis Howell, Boyce Davis, and Jeannette Davis testified that William Terry Davis was with them at their home in Woodville, MS, on the night of Rena Davis' murder - May 16, 1994.

In the case at bar, all the State offered the jury were unsupported conclusions based on circumstantial events and prior instances of domestic abuse to prove that Davis killed his exwife, Rena Davis in May 1994.

Therefore, Davis asserts that the State never proved beyond a reasonable doubt, via either direct evidence or reasonable inferences, that Davis killed Rena Davis. Hence, the verdict of the jury is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow the verdict to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. Furthermore, due to the insufficiency of the evidence presented at trial a reasonable, fair-minded juror could not have found one of the required elements of the crime.

CONCLUSION

William Terry Davis, the appellant, maintains that in this case the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence presented to the jury that to allow the verdict to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. Additionally, in view of the legal insufficiency of the evidence presented by the State of Mississippi against him at trial, a jury composed of reasonable and fair-minded persons could only have found Davis "not guilty" for the offense of Murder. For these reasons, Davis asserts that the Trial Court erred in denying Davis' motion for a new trial and in its denial of Davis' motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

William Terry Davis respectfully prays that this Court will reverse his conviction in this matter, render a decision of not guilty regarding the charged offense, and vacate his sentence.