IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM TERRY DAVIS

FILED

APPELLANT

AUG 0 9 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2006-KA-2124-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VS.

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The trial court correctly denied a motion for a new trial. R. 387. There was sufficient, credible partially corroborated evidence for the trial court to determine that there was no "injustice" involved in denying that motion. **Jones v. State**, 635 So. 2d 884, 887 (Miss. 1994). There was a strong combination of circumstantial and forensic evidence along with "admissions against interest" by Davis in support of allowing the jury to resolve the factual issues presented before them in the instant cause..

It is not necessary to have DNA or blood in support of a conviction. It is only necessary to have credible, substantial corroborated evidence beyond a reasonable doubt in support of a conviction.

Dr. Hayne found the injuries to the victim consistent with the type of injuries that would be inflicted by one beaten with an object like exhibit 19. R. 248. Exhibit 19, a foot and a half hard piece of wood, was given to Mr. Lee for destruction by Davis. R. 189. Davis also told Lee the day after the murder that he "had really messed up this time"; that he had "beat her bad this time." R. 187.

Mr. Wanda Lambert testified to seeing Davis hit Rena. He did so while she was pleading with him not to beat her. Lambert also heard Davis threaten to kill the victim. Plantiff's B, page 12-14.

Dr. John White, a medical doctor, testified to treating the victim for a broken cheek bone. This was the result of being hit in the face by Davis. This was a month before her death. R. 161. Mr. Sam Wilkinson testified that the victim told him that Davis kicked her and "put stitches" in her eye by striking her with his fist. R. 179. Davis also "kicked down" a door to gain access to the house where Wilkinson and Rena were seeing each other. Davis then fought with Davis. Bridget,

the victims daughter, testified to a history of fights between Davis and her mother. R. 233. Bridget also testified to seeing the physical injuries to her mother as a result.

Charles Sullivan testified that he heard Davis threaten to kill the victim. This was at a Domino's Pizza in Natchez. He said, "I will kill the bitch." R. 212. This was because she was planning to move to Colorado with his children.

When this evidence was taken as true with reasonable inferences, there was sufficient evidence for denying a motion for a New trial or a J. N. O. V.

2. When the evidence presented to the jury and described above was taken as true with reasonable inferences, there was more than sufficient credible, substantial evidence in support of the trial court's denial of all peremptory instructions. R. 262.

In short, there was sufficient evidence for inferring all the elements of "deliberate design murder" had been presented to the jury. See M. C. A. §97-3-19(1)(a). Ms. Rena Davis was a human being. Her injuries were consistent with what would occur if one was beaten to death with a hard object like the tent stake admitted into evidence. Ms. Rena Davis was beaten to death after her telephone lines were cut, all of which indicated "deliberate actions" on the part of the murderer. R. 109. This murder occurred in Natchez, Adams County.

There was evidence of a history of violence directed at the victim and her friends by Davis. There was also evidence of a motive, and opportunity, There was also "a threat" to kill Rena Davis shortly before her death and an admission of having "beaten her badly this time" the day after the murder. R. 187; 212. This constituted credible, partially corroborated substantial evidence in support of the denial of all peremptory motions, as well as in support of the jury's guilty verdict.

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED A MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL

Davis' appeal counsel believes there was insufficient evidence for the trial court to have denied him a motion for a new trial. He believes there was a lack of any physical evidence connecting him to the victim or the crime scene. Without fingerprints, DNA or blood connecting him to the victim, Davis feels the evidence was weak enough to require a new trial.

Davis also believes his inculpatory statements as related by witnesses Ricky Lee and Charles Sullivan were not corroborated sufficiently to connect him directly to the murder. Davis believes that based on this evidence, the trial court should have granted him a new trial. Appellant's brief page 8-15.

To the contrary, the record reflects that the trial court, Judge Forrest A. Johnson, found there was sufficient credible, partially corroborated evidence for allowing the jury to resolve the factual issues presented to them. R. 261-262. He believed that the prosecution had presented sufficient credible evidence, through its many witnesses, for establishing all the elements of deliberate design murder of Ms. Rena Davis on May 16, 1994 in Adams County. See M. C. A.. §97-3-19(1)(a)

As stated in the Judge's Order denying a motion for a new trial after a hearing:

It's the Court's recollection this defendant received a completely fair and impartial trial. It's submitted to the jury. It's up to the a jury to resolve. They were properly instructed on all these issues and the fact remains that this jury of men and women, selected, voir dired who sat and heard this case resolved all of these factual issues against the defendant in this case, and for these reasons, the Court finds that clearly there is sufficient evidence that was presented from which this jury could and did find this defendant guilty of murder beyond a reasonable doubt. So for that reason and for all those reasons set out by the Court, the Court is going to deny the motion for a judgment not withstanding the verdict or in the alternative for a new trial. All the other issues brought out by the initial motion and the supplemental motion that

were not specifically addressed here are resolved against the defendant in this case. R. 387.

In **Jones v. State**, 635 So. 2d 884, 887 (Miss. 1994), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that the trial court "should view all the evidence presented in a manner consistent with the jury's verdict." Motions challenging the weight of the evidence should then be denied unless doing so would result in "an unconscionable injustice."

The record reflects that the Adams county District Attorney's office presented many witnesses in support of its case. This included Officer McGehee, who investigated and photographed the crime scene. Chief of Police Mike Mullins investigated the murder and took Davis' statement. Dr. John White testified that he treated the victim for a broken cheek bone as a result of being hit in the face by Davis. This was a month before her death. Mr. Sam Wilkinson testified that he had been physically attacked more than once by Davis when he was with the victim. Ricky Lee testified that Davis admitted that "I really messed up this time. I beat her bad this time.." R. 187. Charles Sullivan testified that he heard Davis say he was having trouble with his ex-wife and "would kill the bitch." This was to prevent her from moving his kids with her and her boy friend to Colorado. R. 212.

Dr. Hayne testified that the victim died of "blunt force trauma." R. 244. Dr. Hayne found the injuries received by the victim to be consistent with those that would be received by one beaten with a hard object, such as the wooden stake given to Mr. Lee by Davis. The record reflects that Davis wanted Mr Lee to destroy it because as he said "it might be mistaken for the murder weapon." R. 248.

Officer Mike Mullins, Natchez Chief of Police, testified to interviewing Davis. This was after Ms. Rena Davis was found dead at her house on the morning of May 17, 1994. Davis'

transcribed statement was admitted into evidence as Exhibit 15. R. 135. Davis admitted to having a "bad temper." He admitted that he wanted "to break the neck" of Ms. Rena Davis' boy friend. R. 144. He admitted to having hit Rena Davis more than once in the past. R. 144. He admitted that she had to have medical treatment as a result. He also admitted that he knew that Rena was pregnant. R. 150. He was angry because she did not know if he or her current boy friend, Mr. Sam Wilkinson, was the father of the embryo. He was also angry because she wanted to move to Colorado.

- Q. How many times have you ever hit Rena?
- A. Oh, a couple of times. One time that I can really tell you about we went to the hospital.
- Q. What happened?
- A. She had gone for two weeks with him.
- Q. With who?
- A. Sam.
- Q. Okay.

A. Laid up in a hotel room with my kids there. Then it was my birthday and she'd gone and come over there and bring me flowers and a card and everything, and come up there and give me a happy birthday kiss like nothing happened, and it was—and it was intentionally. It just trouble, you know. Get away from me, and I slung her around and docked her in the eye. R. 144-145. (Emphasis by Appellee)

Ms. Wanda Lambert's testimony was read into the record. R. 158. Ms. Lambert had previously testified with cross examination by Davis. At the time of trial, she was deceased. Lambert testified that she was "a good friend" of Rena Davis. R.7. She testified to seeing Davis hit Rena Davis during an argument. R.14. She testified that he heard him threaten to kill her. R. 12. She also testified to hearing Rena pleading with Davis not to hit her. R.14. See Plantiff's Exhibit B in manila envelop marked Exhibits.

Dr. John White, a licensed medical doctor, testified that he treated Ms. Davis for injuries to the left side of her face. R. 160-161. She had a fractured cheek bone. She had been involved in an altercation with her ex-husband, Davis. He had caused her injuries by hitting her with his fist. This was in February 14, 1994, a month before her violent death. R. 160.

Q. All right, sir. Tell the jury what you saw with respect to Mrs. Davis and what you did?

A. On examination, we noted that she had ecchymosis around the eye on the left side. Basically bruising of the eye and swelling of that area around the eye. She also had a laceration below that eye that had been repaired in the emergency department, and she—the rest of her examination demonstrated no evidence of any other injuries, and at the time, we were concerned about the possibility of a fracture that involved the zygoma or cheek bone of the face. R. 161.

O. So there was a fracture involved?

A. Correct. R. 162. (Emphasis by Appellee).

Ms. Tammy Johnston, a nurse who was married to Davis' brother at the time, testified that she was called by Davis. Davis wanted her to come to his aid. He was upset over a fight he had with Rena. Rena was in the bed with "ice on her." Johnston found out that Rena was injured because Davis had "hit her." R. 167. She estimated that this occurred about a year before Rena was murdered.

Q. Okay. Would you tell the jury what you found when you got to her house. Just tell us what you found and what happened when you got there.

A. We arrived and went into the home. William was upset. They had been in a fight, and he told me that she was in the bedroom and that she had—he had put ice on her, and she was in the bed with-you know-ice on her, and she was verbally upset. They were arguing between each other which lead to an argument between he and Lee at the moment. Nothing was going to get accomplished by us continuing to argue. So Lee and I left. R. 165-166. (Emphasis by Appellee).

Mr. Sam Wilkinson testified that he was Rena Davis' boyfriend. R. 171.He had been seeing her for more than a year. R. 173. This was after she had divorced Davis. Davis was jealous toward him. Davis did not want him around his ex-wife and kids. Wilkinson went with Rena when she had

a positive pregnancy test. R. 173. They were planning on moving to Colorado where Rena had some family. R. 174.

On three occasions, Wilkinson was physically attacked by Davis. They engaged in a "fist fight." R. 175. On two of those occasions, Davis "kicked the back door down" to gain access to the apartment where Wilkinson and Rena were visiting. R. 176-177.

These attacks were within a few weeks of Rena being violently murdered. Wilkinson also testified that Davis kicked Rena with his cow boy boots as well as hit her eye. R. 179. Mr. Wilkinson saw Rena's battered lifeless body through a window on May 17, 1994 and called the Natchez police. R. 172.

Q. Tell the jury whether or not you know of any instances during the time that you had this relationship with Rena Jean Davis of violence between Mr. William Terry Davis and Mrs. Rena Jean Davis?

A. Yes, sir. He kicked her with some cowboy boots one time and put stitches in R. 179.

Q. Tell the jury about him jumping on you over there on McNeely Road.

A. He kicked the door down and come in on us and was fighting with him. I got out of the house and called the police. R. 176. (Emphasis by Appellee).

Mr. Ricky Lee who worked for a logging company, testified to talking with Davis. This was the day after Rena Davis' violent murder. R. 185. Davis came to the machine where Lee was working. Davis was upset. He told Lee that "he beat her bad." and that "I really messed up this time." R. 187. He started crying and left. Lee admitted to being afraid of Davis. As a result, he did not reveal what he had learned to investigators at that time.

Q. And you go down there and he says what?

A. He was upset, and he tells me that he beat her bad, and I said, "What are you saying, Slim?' He said, "I really messed up this time. I beat her bad this time."

And he started crying and spun around and left. Couldn't get no more out of him. R. 187. (Emphasis by Appellee)

A few weeks after Lee had spoken with Davis, he came to Lee's house. R. 188-189. After reassuring Davis that he had not revealed anything to investigators, Davis gave him a wooden tent peg. He told him to get rid of it for him. Davis said, "it might get mistaken as the murder weapon." However, Lee did not do so. He put the tent peg in his utility room. It remained there for "eleven" years. Lee gave it to investigators in 2005. R. 192.

Q. Okay. Tell me about that.

A. And I told him that I had been questioned about the murder, and they was—and he said, well, what did you tell them. I said I ain't told them nothing. I didn't know nothing you know, and he said, well—he give me a wooden stake at that time at my house and told me to get rid of it. It might get mistaken as the murder weapon. R. 189. (Emphasis by Appellee).

Ms. Bridget Davis, one of Davis' children, testified that she heard her mother fighting with her father more than once. She also saw physical injuries to her mother's eye after their fights. Bridget also testified that when her mother was hurt seriously enough to need medical attention, she heard her father telling her what to tell the medical personnel. She was to tell them she was hurt from an accident rather than from being beaten by Davis. R. 234. She also remembered that the day her mother was killed, she heard her father "hollering" at her mother. She admitted that she had been threatened by him, and was afraid of him. R. 235.

Q. They were arguing there at the parking lot of the store?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Hollering at each other?

A. Yes, sir. R. 231.

- Q. Now, you said you were there when they got a call. Do you know what that call was about?
- A. My mom had been killed.
- Q. Heard them fighting and actually physically fighting?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Did you ever see your mother with injuries?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. When did you see-how many times do you think you ever saw your mother with injuries?
- A. I can recall one time when she had stitches on her eye. She had a patch on her eye.
- Q. Was this one time when she went to the doctor about it?
- A. The hospital emergency room. R. 232-233. (Emphasis by Appellee).
- Q. Okay.
- A. And I remember them waking me up and telling me we had to go to the hospital, and I remember on the way to the hospital they were saying how they were saying it was going to happen. That just to say that it was—he got—he accidentally elbowed her in the eye.
- Q. They were making up a story about how she got hurt?
- A. Yes, sir. R. 234. (Emphasis by Appellee).
- Dr. Stephen Hayne, a medical pathologist, testified to reviewing the original autopsy performed by Dr. Emily Ward. She was previously with the Mississippi state medical examiner and now with the Alabama medical examiners office. Dr. Hayne found, as had Dr. Ward, that the cause of death was "blunt force trauma" to the right side of her head. There was also evidence of injuries

to the victim's right hand, including a broken thumb. This showed evidence of defensive behavior by the victim in trying to avoid blows to her head. See photographs of victim showing severe and bloody injuries to the victim's face and head in manila envelop marked "Exhibits."

Q. On your review of Dr. Ward's work and the photographs, what, if any, conclusion did you reach as to the cause of death?

A. Cause of death, I think, was quite obvious from the post mortem examination and the photographs. This individual had received multiple blunt force trauma. This is injury from a blunt object striking her predominantly on the right side of the head but also the face, producing what's called cranial cerebral trauma. That is that there were fractures of the skull. R. 244.

Q. Okay, sir. Would you tell us what, if any, opinion you formed based on that examination of the stake (Exhibit 19) along with the autopsy.

A. I had one opinion and several comments. An object such as this would certainly be a weapon that could inflict the type of injuries. It has weight or mass to it. It has density. It's hard and delivered with force, could produce those injuries. The one thing that I noticed that there were no blood stains on it. I was subsequently told that this had been weathered in the outside for some nine to ten years, and given that fact, I would not expect to see blood on it. However, the object itself would be consistent with the weapon that would inflict those injuries.

Q. You made that opinion based on your observation of the photograph, the report itself, and the stake.

A. Yes, sir. And the experience I have had with other-multiple other deaths inflicted by similar type objects. R. 247-248. (Emphasis by Appellee).

Mr. Charles Sullivan testified that he was a friend of Davis. Sullivan testified that he unexpectedly met Davis at a Domino's Pizza. While waiting for service, Davis told him angrily that he was not going to allow his ex-wife to take his kids to Colorado. He said, "I will kill the bitch."

R. 212. Sullivan estimated he heard Davis make this statement about two months before he learned about Rena Davis' violent murder. R. 213.

Q. Tell them exactly what you know?

A. He came into Domino's Pizza on 61 North one day......I had heard through my wife who is now my ex-wife that her and him were having problems—you know—and that she had found a new boyfriend, and he said that yeah. Said she's supposed to move to Colorado, but she's not going to move to Colorado with my kids. Said she's not taking my kids away from me and said I'll kill her, you know. And his exact words was "I will kill the bitch," and I said no. You don't want to do that, you know.

Q. Okay. Did you remember that some time later that Mrs. Davis died a violent death?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. How long was it prior to your learning of the death of Rena Davis that this conversation with Mr William Terry Davis took place at the Domino's out there by Morgantown?

A. Well, probably a couple of months. R. 213. (Emphasis by Appellee).

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